

## Original Research Article

Antioxidant, antimicrobial and phytochemical study of different solvent extracts of fruits of *Terminalia bellerica* (Gaertn.) Roxb., from Dibrugarh, Assam

**Comment [TECNO LB71]:** Use upper case for the title and write the scientific name of the plant in italics

**Abstract :** *Terminalia bellerica* (Gaertn.) Roxb. is widely used traditional medicinal plant cultivated for its medicinal importance. The fruits of the plant were collected from Dibrugarh district of Assam, India. The present study aims to determine the phytochemical, antioxidant and antimicrobial activity of different solvent extracts of the fruits. Tannins, flavonoids, phenol, glycosides are present in fruit sample. Ethyl acetate extract recorded highest phenol content ( $6.56 \pm 0.004$  mgCE/gm dry wt.) and antioxidant activity ( $67.00 \pm 0.12\%$ ) against DPPH. Similarly, ethyl acetate extract recorded highest ( $22 \pm 1$  mm) inhibition against *B. subtilis* which is compared to Chloramphenicol (30 mcg) and Clotrimazole (10 mcg). The study can be concluded that the fruits of the plant can be used in near future for development of new drug and ethyl acetate extract is more potent than the other solvent extracts tested.

**Comment [TECNO LB72]:** On the first usage write it in full DPPH

## INTRODUCTION

*Terminalia bellerica* (Gaertn.) Roxb. is a medicinal plant from the family Combretaceae having various pharmaceutical and nutraceutical uses. It is commonly known as Bahera or Belleric or Bastard. In Assam it is known as Bhomora. The plant is found in greater part of India, in Gangetic plains, Chota Nagpur, Bihar, Orissa, West Bengal, Konkan, Deccan and most of South India (Sharma et al. 2005; Deb et al. 2016). The plant is also a secondary host of tasar silkworm (Anonymous, 1976). The fruit is used in Triphala which is a popular herbal rasayana treatment in India having antibacterial effects against various pathogenic bacteria. Powder of the fruits is also used for cough and cold.

In Tawang, Arunachal Pradesh, the local Monpa community uses it as antimicrobial activity stuood and as medicine in various diseases (Singh and Asha, 2017). The people of Coimbatore district also used the plant in their traditional medicinal practices (Kirtikar and Basu, 1999). The fruit of the plant is used in polyherbal formulation in Ayurvedic and Thai folk medicine having various medicinal properties (Intharuksa et al. 2016). The ethyl acetate fraction

**Comment [TECNO LB73]:** ABSTRACT *Terminalia bellerica* (Gaertn.) Roxb. is widely cultivated plant due to its significance use as traditional medicine. The fruits of the plant were collected from Dibrugarh district of Assam, India. The present study aimed to evaluate the phytochemical, antioxidant and antimicrobial activity of different solvent extracts of the fruits of *Terminalia bellerica*. Antioxidant and Phytochemical analysis were carried out using standard methods and the results revealed the presence of tannins, flavonoids, phenols and glycosides in the fruit sample. Among the solvent used for the extraction process, Ethyl acetate extract recorded the highest phenols content ( $6.56 \pm 0.004$  mgCE/gm dried bodyweight) and antioxidant activity ( $67.00 \pm 0.12\%$ ) against DPPH. Similarly, ethyl acetate extract recorded the highest ( $22 \pm 1$  mm) inhibition against *B. subtilis* compared to Chloramphenicol (30 mcg) and Clotrimazole (10 mcg). It is concluded that the ethyl acetate extract of the fruits of *terminalia bellerica* yielded the best results and more efficacious in terms of antimicrobial activity which makes it more useful in new drug development.

keywords : *Terminalia bellerica*, *B. Subtilis*, ethyl acetate, Chloramphenicol, Clotrimazole, antimicrobial and phytochemicals.

**Comment [TECNO LB74]:** Recast it

of fruits possess antioxidant activity (Chen et al. 2019). Hazra (2019) also recorded essential oils, phenolics, flavonoids in fruits of the plant.

The plant *Teminalia bellerica* (Gaertn.) Roxb. Is also a commonly used medicinal plant by the local people of Assam. Inspite of the tremendous medicinal uses, the plant parts are not examined in laboratory for their antioxidant and antimicrobial activity from this study area. The present study aims to determine the total phenolic content and total flavonoid content, antioxidant and antimicrobial activity of different solvent extracts of fruits of the plant.

Comment [TECNO LB75]: aimed

Comment [TECNO LB76]: evaluate

## MATERIAL AND METHODS

Comment [TECNO LB77]: Materials

### Collection and processing of samples

Comment [TECNO LB78]: Make each initial words capital letter and bold it

Samples were collected from Dibrugarh, Assam and they were sorted, cleaned properly and washed under running water to remove dust and other debris. The materials were air dried at room temperature. The materials were ground to fine powder using electric grinder. The fine powder was kept in air tight bottles for further analysis.

Comment [TECNO LB79]: Add it

### Preparation of extracts

Comment [TECNO LB711]: Bold it

Extracts were prepared in four solvents viz-ethyl acetate, methanol, chloroform and hexane by cold maceration methods. The solvents were selected on the basis of polarity level and their extraction ability. The extracts were kept in air tight glass bottles at 5° C for further analysis. Hot petroleum ether extract was also prepared using soxhlet extractor.

The dried extracts were dissolved in DMSO (Dimethyl Sulfoxide) to obtain sample solution at 1mg/ml of concentration. Aqueous extracts were dissolved in distilled water at 1mg/ml of concentration.

### Quantitative phytochemical analysis

Comment [TECNO LB712]: Indicate your references

Following methods were used for the phytochemical analysis; antioxidant and antimicrobial activity of the plant- Phytochemical analysis, Total phenol content (TPC) and Total flavonoid content (TFC), antioxidant activity.

The quantitative phytochemical analysis was performed following the standard laboratory methods described by Edeoga et al (2005); Aja et al (2010) and Ajayi et al (2011). Quantitative

estimation of TPC was done by the method described by Malik and Singh (1980) and TFC by the method described by Mervat and Hanan (2009). Antioxidant activity study performed using DPPH and **ABTS** radical scavenging method as described by Anti-Stanojevic et al (2009) and Re et al (1999) respectively.

**Comment [TECNO LB713]:** Write it in full

#### **Antimicrobial activity study**

**Comment [TECNO LB714]:** Bold this title

The antimicrobial test was carried by agar well diffusion method described by Nair et al (2005) using 6 mm borer in triplicate. The activity was determined by measuring the diameter of zone of inhibition (ZOI) exhibited by the extract.

**Comment [TECNO LB715]:** Bold this title

#### **Selected strains for antimicrobial study**

**Comment [TECNO LB716]:** Use upper case for each initial words and bold it

Five Gram-Positive bacterial strains viz, *Bacillus subtilis* (MTCC 441), *Bacillus cereus* (MTCC 8750), *Staphylococcus aureus* (MTCC 3160), *Staphylococcus epidermis* (MTCC 3615) and *Proteus vulgaris* (MTCC 443), *Enterococcus faecalis* (MTCC 3017) and *Penecillium chrysogenum* (MTCC 947) were used in the study. Strains were obtained from the Microbial Type Culture collection (MTCC), Institute of Microbial Technology (IMTECH), Chandigarh, India. The bacterial strains were maintained on nutrient agar slants and fungal strains on PDA slants and stored in freeze. Strains were regularly sub-cultured using nutrient broth for bacterial strains and PDB for fungal strains.

#### **Standard antibiotics**

**Comment [TECNO LB717]:** Where is the reference of the method you used to collect the bacteria

Standard antibiotics viz, Chloramphenicol (C) 30 mcg, Clotrimazole (CC) 10 mcg were taken for bacterial and fungal strains for comparison of ZOI with the solvent extracts.

## **RESULT AND DISCUSSION**

The results of qualitative phytochemical analysis is presented in Table 1. Fruits of the plant recorded phytochemicals like- tannins, flavonoids, alkaloids, phenol, glycosides, reducing sugar, carotenoids. Hazra (2019) investigated the phytochemicals present in different parts of the fruits (epicarp, mesocarp and seed) and whole fruit. Phytochemicals like- alkaloids, flavonoids, glycosides, cardiac glycosides, terpenoids, tannins, phlobatannins are present in the test samples.

**Comment [TECNO LB718]:** Remove it and use ;

In seed phytochemicals are less than the other parts of the fruits. Devi et al. (2014) and Kumar and Khurana, (2018) also recorded phytochemicals in extracts of the fruits.

Total phenols and flavonoids content of different solvent extracts are presented in Table 2. Ethyl acetate extract recorded highest Total phenol content ( $6.56 \pm 0.004 \text{ mgCE/gm dry wt.}$ ) and methanol extract recorded highest ( $4.45 \pm 0.002 \text{ mgQE/gm dry wt.}$ ) flavonoid content. Gupta et al. (2019) recorded that more phenol content in methanol extract than the aqueous extract used for the study. The polar solvent can extract more phytoconstituents from the plants.

The antioxidant activity of different solvent extracts is presented in Table 3. The ethyl acetate extract showed highest ( $67.00 \pm 0.12\%$ ) antioxidant activity against DPPH and methanol extract recorded highest ( $88.00 \pm 1.00\%$ ) antioxidant activity against ABTS at  $500 \mu\text{l}$  of sample at a concentration of  $1 \text{ mg/ml}$ . Antioxidant activity of all the sample extracts recorded more inhibition against ABTS than DPPH. Chen et al. (2019) proved that the ethyl acetate fraction of the fruits possess antioxidant activity. Singh and Asha (2017) also evaluated the antioxidant percentage of methanol extract of fruits and compared it with standard ascorbic acid using DPPH as free radical. Gupta et al. (2019) recorded that the methanol extract have more antioxidant activity than the aqueous extract. Elizabeth et al. (2019) studied the antioxidant activity and phytochemicals present in methanol, ethyl acetate, chloroform and aqueous extracts of seed of the plant. In our study the antioxidant inhibition against ABTS is comparatively more than inhibition against DPPH. The study recorded that the ethyl acetate extracts have relatively high antioxidant activity. It has higher antioxidant activity against ABTS than DPPH. Highly polar ethyl acetate and methanol solvent extract are more potent than the low polar solvents.

The antimicrobial activity of different solvent extracts are presented in Table 4. Antimicrobial activity of the solvent extracts recorded inhibition against *B. subtilis*, *B. cereus*, *S. aureus* and *P. chrysogenum*. The inhibition is compared with the standard antibiotics Chloramphenicol ( $30 \text{ mcg}$ ). Highest inhibition ( $22 \pm 1 \text{ mm}$ ) was recorded by ethyl acetate extract against *B. subtilis*. All the extracts showed no inhibition against *P. vulgaris*, *S. epidermis*, *E. faecalis* and *C. albicans*. Devi et al. (2014) recorded antimicrobial activity of aqueous extract the fruits against tested human pathogenic bacteria. Dharmaratne et al. (2018) also recorded antimicrobial activity of aqueous and methanol extracts of fruits of the plants against tested microorganisms. They also showed that the extraction of the fruits in boiling water is more potent in

Comment [TECNO LB719]: dried weight

antimicrobial activity. Gupta et al. (2019) also recorded that methanol extract is more potent in extracting phytochemicals from the plant which are responsible for their antimicrobial activity. All the extracts from our study did not recorded any inhibition against fungal strains *C. albicans*. According to Bais et al (2002) and Hassan et al. (2007) the difference in antimicrobial action against the bacteria and fungi may be due to the inhibition of cell wall formation in the cell resulting in a leakage of cytoplasmic constituents by the active components of the extract. The phytochemicals present in the sample extracts, may be the another reason of inactiveness of the samples against fungi. Madani and Jain, (2008); Yadav, (2012); Shaikh et al. (2014) also recorded antimicrobial activity of the plant against various micro-organism.

**Comment [TECNO LB720]:** Re-write your DISCUSSION and relate it with previous work

Table 1: Qualitative phytochemical analysis of the fruits of *Terminalia bellerica* (Gaertn.) Roxb.

**Comment [TECNO LB721]:** Turn this table to portrait

Sample	Phytochemicals													
	Tannins	Flavonoids	Alkaloids	Phenol	Glycosides	Steroids	Terpenoids	Phlobatannin	saponin	Cardiac glycosides	anthraquinone	Free anthraquinone	carotenoid	Reducing sugar
Fruits	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+

‘+’ indicate present, ‘-’ indicate absent

Table 2: TPC and TFC of different solvent extract of fruit of *Terminalia bellerica* (Gaertn) Roxb.

Solvents	Total phenol content	Total flavonoid content (mg)
----------	----------------------	------------------------------

	(mg catechol equivalent/gm dry extract)	quercetin equivalent/gm dry extract)
Ethyl acetate	6.56±0.004	1.44±0.112
Methanol	2.63±0.000	4.45±0.002
Chloroform	3.20±0.000	4.15±1.002
Hexane	1.77±0.001	2.50±0.001

Table 3: Antioxidant activity study of different solvent extract of *Terminalia bellerica* (Gaertn.) Roxb.

Solvent extract (500µl)	<b>DPPH radical scavenging activity</b> (% inhibition in mg/ml)	<b>ABTS radical scavenging activity</b> (% inhibition in mg/ml)
Ethyl acetate	67.00±0.12	85.80±1.01
Methanol	72.60±0.00	88.00±1.00
Chloroform	64.40±0.20	80.56±0.02
Hexane	55.00±0.01	76.34±0.12
Ascorbic acid	96.32±1.02	98.32±0.02

Table 4: Antimicrobial activity study of different solvent extracts of *Terminalia bellerica* (Gaertn.) Roxb.

Solvent extracts	Diameter of Zone of Inhibition (mm)
------------------	-------------------------------------

	<i>B. subtilis</i>	<i>B. cereus</i>	<i>S. aureus</i>	<i>S. epidermis</i>	<i>P. vulgaris</i>	<i>E. faecalis</i>	<i>E. coli</i>	<i>P. chrysogenum</i>	<i>C. albicans</i>
Ethyl acetate	22±1	16±2	12±0	-	-	-	-	10±1	-
Methanol	12±2	8±0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Chloroform	-	8±0	-	-	-	-	8±0	-	-
Hexane	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	10±0	-
Hot petroleum ether extract	12.1±1.02	-	8±0	-	-	-	-	-	-
Chloramphenicol (30mcg)	15±0	-	-	30±0	-	8±0	-	-	-
Clotrimazole (10mcg)	20±0	10±0	11±1	20±0	8±0	-	26±2	11±0	32±0

Diameter of the cork borer=6mm, '-' indicates no inhibition

## CONCLUSION

The study proved that the ethyl acetate extract of fruits of *Terminalia bellerica* is more potent than the other extracts used for the test. The more the polar solvent the more the phytochemicals it will extract which is responsible for the antioxidant and antimicrobial activity of the fruits.

## COMPETING INTERESTS DISCLAIMER:

Pppp0p

Authors have declared that no competing interests exist. The products used for this research are commonly and predominantly use products in our area of research and country. There is absolutely no conflict of interest between the authors and producers of the products because we do not intend to use these products as an avenue for any litigation but for the advancement of

knowledge. Also, the research was not funded by the producing company rather it was funded by personal efforts of the authors.

## REFERENCES

1. Aja PM, Okaka ANA, Onu PN, Ibiam U, Urako AJ (2010). Phytochemical composition of *Talinum Triangulare* (water leaf) Leaves. Pakistan Journal of Nutrition. 9(6): 527-530.
2. Ajayi IA, Ajibade O, oderinde RA (2011). Preliminary Phytochemical analysis of some plant seeds. Research Journal of Chemical Sciences. 1(3):58-62.
3. Anonymous (1976). Wealth of India, Volume X (Combretaceae), Plant Systematic and Evolution, (Rh-Z) New Delhi Directorate CSIR, pp. 177.
4. Bais HP, Walker TS, Schweizer HP, Vivanco JM (2002). Root specific elicitation and antimicrobial activity of rosmarinic acid in hairy root cultures of sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.). Plant Physiology and Biochemistry. 40: 983–995
5. Chen Y, Zhou G, Ma B, Tong J, Wang Y (2019). Active constituents in the ethyl extract fraction of *T. bellerica* fruit exhibits antioxidant, antifibrosis and proapoptosis capabilities in-vitro. Antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and microbial modulatory activities of nutraceuticals and functional food. Article ID 5176090
6. Deb A, Barua S, Das B(2016). Pharmacological activities of Baheda (*Terminalia bellirica*): A review. Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry. 5(1): 194-197.
7. Devi PN, Kaleeswari S, Poonkothai M (2014). Antimicrobial activity and phytochemical analysis of fruit extracts of *Terminalia bellerica*. International Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences.6(5):639-642.
8. Dharmaratne MPJ, Manoraj A, Thevanesam V, Ekanayake A, Kumar NS, Liyanapathiana V, Abeyratne E, Bandara BMR (2018). *Terminalia bellerica* fruit extracts: in-vitro antibacterial activity against selected multi-drug resistant bacteria, radical scavenging activity and cytotoxicity study on BHK-21 cells. BMC complementary Medicine and Therapies. 18: 325
9. Edeoga HO, Okwn OE, Mbaebie Bo (2005). Phytochemical constituents of some Nigerian medicinal plants. African journal of biotechnology. 4 (7):685-688.

**Comment [TECNO LB722]:** Use APA's style of reference to arrange your references

10. Elizabeth LAA, Bupesh G, Sushmita R (2019). In-vitro antioxidant efficacy of *Terminalia bellerica* seed extract against free radicals. International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Research. 8(11): 4659-65.
11. Gupta R, Singh RL, Gupta A (2019). Antioxidant, DNA protective and antibacterial activities of *Terminalia bellerica* extracts. Journal of Medicinal Plants Research. 13(18):431-442.
12. Hassan SW, Umar RA, Ladan MJ, Nyemike P, Wasagu RSU, Lawal M, Ebbo AA (2007). Nutritive value, phytochemical and antifungal properties of *Pergularia tomentosa* L. (Asclepidaceae). International Journal of Phamcology. 3(4) 334-340.
13. Hazra K (2019). Phytochemical investigation of *Terminalia bellerica* fruit inside. Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical and clinical Research. 12(8):191-194.
14. Intharuksa A, Ando H, Miyake K, Sirisa-Ard P, Mikage M, Sasaki Y (2016). Molecular analysis of *Terminalia* spp. distributed in Thailand and authentication of crude drugs from *Terminalia* plants. Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin. 39: 492–501. doi: 10.1248/bpb.b15-00673
15. Kritkar KR and Basu BD (1999). Indian Medicinal Plants I-IV Vols. International Book Distributors Booksellers and Publishers, Dehra Dun.
16. Kumar N, Khurana SMP (2018). Phytochemistry and medicinal potential of the *Terminalia bellerica* Roxb.(Bahera). Indian Journal of Natural Products and Resources. 9(2):97-107.
17. Madani A, Jain SK (2008). Anti-Salmonella activity of *Terminalia belerica*: in vitro and in vivo studies. Indian Journal of Experimental Biology. 46: 817-821.
18. Malik EP, Singh MP (1980). Plant Enzymology and Hittoenzymology. Kalyani publishers, New Delhi: 286.
19. Mervat MMEIF, Hanan AA Tail (2009). Antioxidant activities total anthrocyanine, phenolics and flavonoids content of some sweet potato genotypes under stress of different concentrations of sucrose and sorbitol, Australian Journal of Basic Applied Science. 3: 3609-3616.

20. Anti-Stanojevic L, Stanojevic M, Nikolic V, Nikolic L, Ristic J, Canadanovic, Brunet V: Antioxidant activity and total phenolic and Flavonoid contents of Hieracium Pilosella L.extracts. Sensors 2009, 9: 5702-5714.
21. Nair R, Kalariya T, Chanda S (2005). Antibacterial activity of some selected Indian medicinal flora. Turkish Journal of Biology. 29:41-47.
22. Re R, Pelleorini N, Proteggente A, Pannala A, Yang M, Rice Evans C (1999). Antioxidant activity applying an improved ABTS radical cation decolorization assay. Free radical Biology and Medicine. 26: 1231-1237.
23. Shaikh S, Lochan R, Kaul P, Tandon GD (2014). Beta lactamase Inhibitors from Indigenous Herbs and Spices. Research Journal of Pharmaceutical, Biological and Chemical Sciences. 5(2), 275-285.
24. Sharma PC, Yelne, MB, Dennis TJ (2005). Database on Medicinal Plants Used In Ayurveda, 3rd Edition, Central Council for Research in Ayurveda and siddha, New Delhi, India, 282-284.
25. Singh AV and Asha H (2017). Antioxidant activity of Terminalia bellerica (Gaertn.)Roxb. Of Tawang, Arunachal Pradesh, India. Journal of Bioresources, 4(2):65-72.
26. Yadav S (2012). Antibiofilm Formation Activity of *Terminalia bellerica* Plant Extract Against Clinical Isolates of Streptococcus mutans and Streptococcus sobrinus Implication in Oral Hygiene. International Journal of Pharmaceutical & Biological Archive, 3(4), 816-821